I. THE IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS 

This petition is brought by ShumetMekonen, WondwossenMersha, 

TigabuLakew, HabtamuAboye, YirgaBelete, and SelamnehAmbaw, 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner requests the Washington Supreme Court review the 

Washington State Court of Appeals Opinion inShumetMekonen, 

WondwossenMersha, TigabuLakew, HabtamuAboye, YirgaBelete, and 

SelamnehAmbaw, Appellants I Cross-Respondents, v. DessieZewdu, 

WorkuAsmare, WorkuMelese, BazazewBirhan, MotbaynerTebeje, 

EndaleAndeno, MelakuKebede, 

Green Cab Taxi & 

Nega Wondimagegn, 

Disabled Service 

KassaDerar, 

Association

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Washington Court Rules of Evidence 801 and 802 make hearsay 

testimony inadmissible. Washington Supreme Court and Court of 

Appeals decisions confirm that hearsay evidence that does not fall in 

the scope of an exception must be excluded. Did the trial court err in 

failing to strike from the record a post-trial, hearsay declaration of an 
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undisclosed expert witness that was never offered or admitted into 

evidence, was not even generated until after trial, and where 

appellants had no opportunity for discovery or cross-examination? 

2. Washington Supreme Court case law establishes that expert 

testimony without an adequate foundation must be excluded from 

evidence. Did the trial court err in basing its determination of value of 

appellants' membership interests in their company on a hearsay 

declaration that simply stated a number and which did not provide 

any supporting evidence or even explanation as to how the value was 

arrived at, and where appellants had no opportunity for discovery or 

cross-examination concerning the witness and his declaration? 

3. Washington case law holds that juries must be presumed to have 

followed the instructions provided by the court. Did the Court of 

Appeals err in reversing, suasponte, the verdicts and judgments in 

favor of appellants on their tortious interference claims, based on an 

alleged error in the breach of contract instruction, where there could 

have been no confusion presuming the jury followed the trial court's 

tortious interference instructions? 

4. Washington Courts have a substantial public interest in the proper 

running of the judiciary and respect for the jury system. Did the Court 

of Appeals err in llowing the trial court to grant injunctive relief that 
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was contrary to the findings of the jury, and contrary to 

thedetermination by the parties that the court would grant injunctive 

relief based on the jury's findings? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A Facts Giving Rise to the Dispute. 

Green Cab is an LLC formed in 2007 to bid for a contract to be 

awardedunder a King County Request for Proposal (RFP). The RFP 

was meant to establish an innovative taxi company in which the 

drivers would be employees governed by collective bargaining and 

receiving workers'compensation insurance, among other innovations. 

King County planned to issue 50 taxicab licenses to the successful 

bidder. The RFP was issued in part because of reports that existing 

licenses were being sold in the range of $150,000 to $300,000. Ex. 

2,Request for Proposal. The parties refer to the contract between 

Green Cab and King County under which Green Cab operates as the 

RFP. 

Each of Green Cab's founding members contributed $75,000 in 

capital to start the company. In exchange, each founding member 

received two "units" in the company, meaning each would get two taxi 

licenses. 
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King County announced the award of the contract to Green 

Cab, but competitors brought a lawsuit against King County, delaying 

its implementation. The RFP was awarded to Green Cab in 2008, with 

Green Cab commencing business in August 2008, but with fewer than 

the originally promised 50 licenses. The delay caused serious financial 

trouble for Green Cab, and it was never operated in the manner 

envisioned in the RFP. Instead the drivers worked as owner/operators, 

owning the vehicles and keeping their own fares. The company 

instituted dues payments from the drivers to help with finances. 

Green Cab is governed by a June 2008 operating agreement 

entered into by each of its members. The Operating Agreement 

provided a method for calling for additional capital contributions from 

members, which contributions could be voluntary or mandatory, Ex. 1, 

Article 8.1(b)(ii). Any such request was required to be in writing. 

There was no evidence in the record of any writing establishing 

mandatory capital contributions. 

The operating agreement distinguishes between defaults and a 

"Defaulting Member". See Op. Agr. Article 8.1(c).If a member fails to 

make required capital contributions under Article 8.1, or payments to 

lenders, the member is in default, but is not a "Defaulting Member" as 

that term is defined under the Agreement. A member may be in 

default indefinitely without becoming a Defaulting Member.The 
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Agreement provides a formal procedure that the Board could follow 

designating the member a Defaulting Member, and providing time to 

take action to remedy that status, and providing remedies if the 

Member does not cure the default. Ex. l,Article 8.1(c) 

One of the remedies available to the Company is a forced sale 

of a Defaulting Member's interests entitled the company to buy the 

member interests back at book value, as determined by the company 

accountant. The company wasrequired to keep its books under a 

permissible manner of accounting, consistently applied. Ex. 1, Article 

ll.l.Green Cab never provided any notices or took any other action to 

designate any of the Plaintiffs as Defaulting Members,as that term is 

defined under the Agreement. 

In 2010 there were a series of disputed elections for the Green 

Cab Board of Directors that that led to conflict between members of 

the Plaintiffs' group and members of Defendants' group. On 

September 4, 2010 ShumetMekonen was elected to the board, along 

with several other new board members, including other members of 

Plaintiffs' group. Other members disputed the election, because some 

of the persons elected to the board were not current with their dues. 

Those members called a new election for September 25, with members 

of the existing board refusing to recognize or participate in that 
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election. A competing board was elected at that meeting. In October 

2010 the parties sued each other in King County Superior Court. 

In December 2010 Defendants took control of the Green Cab 

offices with the help of the police. The police turned control over to 

Defendants because the lease had been taken out in the name of 

DessieBelete, a member of Respondent's group. RP 7/30/12 p.55-

56.Defendants came into possession of all the records ofthe company 

as a result. RP 7/24/12, p.153:9-11. 

Following the takeover of the Green Cab offices, the 

Defendants changed Green Cab's insurance company and insisted that 

Plaintiffs change as well. RP 7/25/13 p.142:7-10.1 In January 2011, 

Defendants took over the Green Cab dispatching account ("DDS") and 

excluded Plaintiffs from the service. RP 7/31/13, p.93:11-16. 

Defendants worked to get Plaintiffs excluded from the most 

lucrative taxi stand in King County, which serviced the hotels and 

malls of downtown Bellevue. RP 7/24/12 pp.27 -29. They had been 

picking up fares out of that location since 2008. Id.Because the Green 

Cab licenses did not allow for pick-up in Seattle or the airport, access 

to the Bellevue stand was critical. 

1Although both parties commenced their own lawsuits in King County, the 
parties have throughout referred to the Appellants as Plaintiffs and 
Respondents as Defendants. 
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Following a meeting in March 2011 between Respondent 

KasaDerar, Appellant Mekonen and managers of the taxi stand, 

Plaintiffs were excluded from the Bellevue location. Id., p.36:16-20. In 

June 2011, Mr. Derar wrote a letter to the manager of the parking 

area, attaching a list of the Plaintiffs' group, referring to them as 

irresponsible and inactive, and telling the manager that they had been 

terminated from Green Cab. RP 7/24/12, p.155; Ex. 109. Being 

excluded from the Bellevue location was crippling to Plaintiffs. RP 

7/24/12, p.39. 

B. Proceedings Below. 

In October 2010, Plaintiffs then Defendants initiated litigation 

in King County, seeking damages and to have the court determine 

who had the right to manage Green Cab. CP 1 - 17, CP 876-883. The 

cases were consolidated. Plaintiffs ultimately advanced five claims, 

alleging: (1) breach of fiduciary duty; (2) tortious interference; (3) 

breach of contract; (4) unjust enrichment; and (5) permanent 

injunction. RP 7/18112 pp.19-20.Defendants advanced claims 

alleging: (1) breach of contract; (2) breach of fiduciary duties; (3) 

tortious interference; (4) unjust enrichment; (5) conversion; and (6) 

injunctive relief. RP 7/18112, pp.21-24. The parties' requests for 

injunctive relief all had to do with the elections and the right to 
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manage the company, there was no request for the transfer of licenses 

or the sale of membership interests. CP 16, 882,932-4. 

During the proceedings, Plaintiffs failed to respond to requests 

for admission served by Defendants. The court deemed the requests 

admitted and those admissions were included as undisputed facts in 

the instructions provided to the jury. RP 7131/12, pp. 109-112.2 

Following 8 days of trial, on July 31, 2012 the Plaintiffs and 

Defendants rested their cases. RP 7/31 and 8/24/12 p.99. On August 

2, 2012, the jury returned special verdict forms A - J. CP 211-233. 

The jury found that Plaintiffs had not breached any terms of the 

Operating Agreement, and owed neither Green Cab nor any of the 

Defendants anything for breach of contract. 

The jury found in Plaintiffs' favor on the breach of contract, 

tortious interference, and breach of fiduciary duty claims, although 

they did not award damages to all Plaintiffs. The jury found that every 

one of the Defendants had breached their contract with Plaintiffs, but 

awarded damages only to Mekonen, awarding him $95,000. The jury 

awarded damages on the tortious interference claimto Mekonen 

($38,000), Belete ($26,000), and Mersha($8,500), and awarded 

Mersha$14,000 on the breach of fiduciary duty claim. The jury also 

2Due to their significance with multiple issues, a copy of the transcript of the 
jury instructions is included in the Appendix as Ex. C. 
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found in Defendants' favor ontheir tortious interference claim, 

awarding them $18,600 in damages.The jury also reported, in Special 

Verdict Form A, that the September 4 election was not valid, the 

September 25 election was, and that Defendants' group had the right 

to manage Green Cab. 

Following the jury's verdicts, the court had still to fashion 

appropriate injunctive relief. The parties submitted briefing on the 

injunctive relief they sought from the court. The jury acted as fact

finder on all claims, but the fashioning of relief for permanent 

injunction based on those facts was for the court. RP 7/18112 p. 20. 

The parties had agreed that the court was to determine who managed 

and operated Green Cab based on the jury's responses on Special 

Verdict Form A CP 421; RP 7/18112 p.8; 7/31/12 p.73. 

As their submission to the court on injunctive relief, 

Defendants submitted a 3 page brief, plus a 2 page declaration from a 

TesfayeTemesgen, identified as Green Cab's accountant. CP 282-287.3 

In this briefing, Defendants requested that the court make conclusions 

of law that Plaintiffs had forfeited all rights associated with their 

membership interests, had offered their membership units for sale 

pursuant to the operating agreement, and that the value of the 

membership units was $5,078.57. 

3 A copy of the declaration is included in the Appendix as Ex. B. 
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None of this requested relief had been pleaded. CP 876-883, 

920-934. The only injunctive relief sought by Defendants had to do 

with keeping Plaintiffs from acting on behalf of the company or 

interfering with Defendants' running of the company. CP 882, CP 

932-4. Plaintiffs had requested similar injunctive relief with respect to 

Defendants. CP 16.Defendants never sought leave to amend their 

pleadings to include claims for the transfer of licenses and forced sale 

of membership interests. 

The court provided its memorandum decision on August 24, 

2012, addressing the requested injunctive relief, preventing Plaintiffs 

from interfering with the management of the company. CP 421. The 

court also went further, ruling that Plaintiffs must surrender their 

licenses to Green Cab, and sell Green Cab their membership shares 

pursuant to paragraph 8.1 of the Operating Agreement. Finally, the 

court determined the value of Plaintiffs' membership interests at 

$5,078.57, based on the post-trial declaration. CP 425; CP 287. 

No party offered evidence of the book value of the company in 

the trial, or addressed the issue with the court or in any other fashion. 

It simply was not at issue in the litigation.Defendants did not request 

any questions on the special verdict forms addressing the issue, nor 

did they request that the issue be tried to the court. 
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V. ARGUMENT WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW 

A. The Failure to Exclude the Post-Trial Declaration Raises Serious 
Constitutional Issues, Implicates Serious Public Policy Issues, and 
Conflicts with the Decisions of this Court and the Rules of Evidence. 

1. The Declaration is Inadmissible Hearsay. 

Every attorney is familiar with the hearsay rule. ER 801(c) 

defines hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant 

while testifying at the trial orhearing, offered in evidence to prove the 

truth of the matter asserted." ER 802 makes hearsay evidence 

inadmissible in evidence. The post-trial Declaration offered by 

Defendants as to the value of member interests is classic hearsay. 

Where no exception applies, it is error to admit hearsay evidence. 

Thomas v. French, 99 Wn.2d 95, 104, 659 P.2d 1097 (Wash. 

1983).Error will not be considered prejudicial unless it affects, or 

presumptively affects, the outcome of the trial. Id., citing James S. 

Black & Co. v. P & R Co., 12 Wn.App.533, 537, 530 P.2d 722 (1975). 

The trial court accepted the precise value--$5,078.57--identified in the 

post-trial declaration as the amount Plaintiffs were entitled to for 

their membership interests. 
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The prejudice from this error is plain. 4 Mr. Temesgenwas not 

disclosed prior to trial, his purportedly expert opinions had not been 

disclosed (in fact the declaration was drafted after both sides had 

rested their cases), and he was testifying on a matter which had not 

been pleaded. Plaintiffs had no opportunity for discovery, and as is 

addressed below, the declaration was entirely conclusory and not 

based on evidence in the record. 

Admission of the post-trial hearsay declaration also deprived 

Plaintiffs of the right to cross-examination, an integral part of all 

cases, civil and criminal, by the due process clause. Baxter v. Jones, 34 

Wn.App. 1, 658 P.2d 127 4 (1983).Even curtailing cross-examination 

can constitute reversible error. Id., 34 Wn.App. at p.3. It is simply 

unacceptable to have a matter of such importance determined in such 

a manner. 

The Court of Appeals did not dispute that the declaration was 

hearsay.Nevertheless it did not address the issue of why a hearsay 

declaration would be admissible and simply denied the appeal. 

Without the hearsay declaration there was no evidence of book value 

of the membership interests in the record, no evidence of the 

4The Court of Appeals tries to excuse this error by pointing to evidence they 
believe corroborates the testimony. This ignores both the decisive impact of 
the declaration, and that the sale of Plaintiffs' membership interests was not 
at issue in the trial. Finally, as theCourt of Appeals points out, the issue is 
the book value of the membership interests-- none of the evidence cited 
addresses that. 
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accounting methods employed by the company, and no evidence as to 

who Green Cab's accountant was-in short, no basis for the court to 

make a determination ofvalue of those interests whatsoever.5 

Admitting the post-trial declaration in this manner is not 

consistent with fundamental principles of American law, including the 

rules of evidence, due process and the right to cross-examine. 

Considering the declaration, much less base the court's determination 

of value upon it, was clear error. The action was contrary to decisions 

of this Court, the rules of evidence and important constitutional 

values. The Court should grant this petition. 

2. The Declaration was Wholly Conclusory and Not Based on 
Evidence in the Record. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is contrary to established 

case law. "It is well established that conclusory or speculative expert 

opinions lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted." Safeco 

Insurance Co. v. McGrath, 63 Wn.App.170, 177,817 P.2d 861 (1991). 

The Post-Trial Declaration is the very definition of conclusory. It 

simply posits a number out of thin air as representing "current net 

book value of Defaulting Member's Percentage interest",See Appendix, 

5The Operating Agreement provided that in the event of a forced sale of a 
Defaulting Member's membership interest, the company shall pay book 
values for those interests, as determined by the company accountant. Ex. 1, 
Article 8.1(c)(v). The company was required to keep the books by a 
permissible accounting method, consistently applied. Id., Article 11.1. 
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Ex. B. Itprovides no description of how the number was arrived at, 

and no underlying documentation to support it. It is not based on 

evidence on the record, because there is no evidence on the record of 

the book value of the company. 

Plaintiffsvigorously objected to the newly proposed evidence on 

hearsay, foundation (expert opinion), relevance and other grounds, 

and moved to strike. SeePlaintiffs Response to Defendants' Brief in 

Support of Equitable Relief, CP 309-310. Considering the hearsay 

affidavit and giving it weight in the determination of the value of the 

membership interest in the company was an abuse of discretion. 

There are additional public policy considerations for the court to 

consider in granting this petition. For individual participants, cases 

that come before the Court of Appeals are certainly some of the most 

important matters in their lives. When the Court of Appeals not only 

ignores established law, but entirely fails to address central issues 

raised on appeal, faith in the courts is shaken. 

B. The Reversal of the Tortious Interference Awards to 
Plaintiffs Based on an Alleged Erroneous Breach of Contract 
Instruction is Contrary to Decisions of this Court and Implicates 
Serious Public Policy Issues. 

This Court has made clear that the determinations of juries are to 

be treated with a presumption of respect. "We presume that juries 
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follow the instructions and consider only evidence that is properly 

before them." State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808,818-19,265 P.3d 

853 (2011). 

The Court of Appeals reversed the judgments for tortious 

interference in favor of the 3 Plaintiffs the jury had awarded damages. 

This was not based on any alleged mistake in the instructions or 

evidence for tortious interference, but on the premise that the breach 

of contract instruction "invited the jury to consider tortious 

interference claims as part of the breach of contract claim. "Opinion, 

p.21.6This is curious reasoning given that Mersha and Belete were not 

awarded damages on the contract claim. How can it be argued that the 

alleged erroneous jury instruction on breach of contract confused the 

jury into NOT awarding breach of contract damages, but into 

awarding tortious interference damages in a manner contrary to the 

instructions? 

The Court of Appeals pointed to a conversation between counsel 

and the court as support for the idea that the jury must have been 

confused by the erroneous instruction on breach of contract. The 

conversation does not demonstrate any basis to believe the jury was 

confused on the grounds for a tortious interference claim. More to the 

6The Court raised this issue on its own, in its Opinion, saying it was 
necessary to reach a proper decision. Opinion, p.21. 
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point, the conversation was not conducted in the presence of the jury. 

RP 7/16/12 at 54-55. 

The alleged error in the breach of contract instruction was that it 

allowed the jury to find a breach of contract by Defendants based on 

breaches of the contract between Green Cab and King County. 

Opinion, p.20.However, the instructions on the tortious interference 

claims were completely clear and allow for no confusion: the claims 

were based on alleged interference by Defendants with Plaintiffs' 

relationship with potential customers:

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