Received
Washington State Supreme Court

MAY - 2 2014

No. 90123-6

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON [CT. APP. DOCKET No. 69278-0-1]

SHUMET MEKONEN, WONDWOSSEN MERSHA; TIGABU LAKEW; HABTAMU ABOYE; YIRGA BELETE; and SELAMNEH AMBAW,

Petitioners,

v.

DESSIE ZEWDU; WORKU ASMARE; WORKU MELESE; BAZAZEW BIRHAN; MOTBAYNER TEBEJE; ENDALE ANDENO; MELAKU KEBEDE; NEGA WONDIMAGEGN; KASA DERAR; and GREEN CAB TAXI & DISABLED SERVICE ASSOCIATION, LLC,

Respondents.

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SULLIVAN LAW FIRM Michael T. Schein, WSBA #21646 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4600 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 903-0504

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Respondents Dessie Zewdu, Worku Asmare, Worku Melese, Bazazew Birhan, Motbayner Tebeje, Endale Andeno, Melaku Kebede, Nega Wondimagegn, Kasa Derar, and Green Cab Taxi & Disabled Service Association, LLC (hereinafter "Green Cab") were known as "Defendants Group" below, and were Respondents and Cross-Appellants in the Court of Appeals.

#### II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Green Cab presents no issue for review, and requests that review of the unpublished decision of Division One in this matter be DENIED.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court can best understand the facts by reading pages 2-7 of the unpublished opinion of Division One. *Pet.Rev.*, App. A, *Mekonen v. Zewdu*, No. 69278-0-I (March 3, 2014) (hereinafter "COA Opinion").

Petitioners seek review of evidence underlying the injunctive relief granted by the trial court in the post-verdict equitable phase of the case, and the consistency of that injunctive relief with the verdicts. *Pet.Rev.* pp.1-2 (Issues 1, 2 & 4). Each of these rulings are within the trial court's broad discretion, and *sui generis* to the particular facts of this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For greater detail, we recommend the "Statement of the Case" from the *Brief of Respondents / Cross-Appellants*, pp.2-13 (July 11, 2013).

case. Petitioners also seek review of the reversal of the judgments for tortious interference with business relations, although it does not seek review of the predicate ruling reversing the judgments for breach of contract. *Pet.Rev.* p.2 (Issue 3). Because the entire scope of actionable business relations under the instructions was overbroad by including the RFP contract under which Petitioners had no right to sue, Division One correctly determined that the jury was likely confused as to which business relationships were subject to tortious interference.

There is no judicial policy of importance to the justice system to be found in any of these issues, and Petitioners are simply asking this Court to sit as a second reviewer for possible error.

#### IV. ARGUMENT – REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Review should be denied because Petitioners have demonstrated no conflict with case law within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2); no significant constitutional question within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(3); and no issue of substantial public interest demanding the attention of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# A. The Trial Court's Injunctive Relief of a Buy-Out at the Value Stated by the Company Accountant Does Not Trigger Review Under RAP 13.4(b)

#### 1. The Issue is Not Properly Presented

Petitioners never moved to strike the declaration of the Green Cab accountant. Under King County Local Rules, a motion must be noted for hearing, contain statements of relief requested, facts, issues, evidence relied upon and legal authorities, and a proposed order. KCLR 7(b)(5). The so-called "motion to strike" the testimony of the Green Cab accountant was not noted for hearing, but was instead a few sentences buried in a pleading entitled Plaintiffs' Response and Objections to Defendants' Request for Injunctive Relief (August 20, 2012). CP 309-10. The "Relief" section of this pleading did not ask the trial court to strike the declaration. CP 307. No proposed order was submitted. Petitioners thus failed to bring a motion to strike to the attention of the trial court and, not surprisingly, the trial court never ruled on this phantom "motion" to strike" in its lengthy written decision because it was never properly presented to it. CP 343-362. It is therefore not preserved for review, and it makes a poor candidate for this Court's attention. But because it is the centerpiece of the Petition for Review, we will address it further.

# 2. The Trial Court Exercised Proper Discretion within the Context of the Operating Agreement and the Parties' Agreement On the Record

#### a. The Agreement on the Record

Washington courts "review a trial court's ruling on a motion to strike for an abuse of discretion." *Engstrom v. Goodman*, 166 Wn. App. 905, 910, 271 P.3d 959 (Div. 1 2012). Similarly, they "review a trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for abuse of discretion." *Id.* The trial court also has discretion to allow late-disclosed testimony for good cause. *Hough v. Stockbridge*, 152 Wn. App. 328, 339, 216 P.3d 1077 (Div. 2 2009); KCLR 4(j); KCLR 26(k)(4).

The context of the trial court's exercise of discretion is important:

At the outset, the parties agreed that the jury would try the legal claims, and the court would try the injunction claim. In response to the court's question whether any claims would be "tried to the Court as opposed to the jury," *Petitioners' counsel* stated, "I would just say the equitable claim of the permanent injunction." COA Opinion at 8 (*quoting*, RP (July 18, 2012) at 20-21).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioners point to a statement by counsel for Green Cab which they say is to the contrary. *Pet.Rev.* at 17-18. But that statement only addressed jury instructions, and it was made on July 31 *after* the evidence was in, whereas the statement by Petitioners' counsel reserving trial of the injunction to the Court was made on July 18 at the *outset of trial*, and it set the terms for introduction of evidence.

- ➤ The parties submitted to the jury "Special Verdict Form A Validity of Elections," CP 222, which answered key questions relevant to both the legal and equitable claims. RP (July 31, 2013) at 68-69, 78-79, 114-15 (validity of September 4 election goes to Petitioners' claim of breach of contract as well as to the question of control of the company).
- ➤ Both sides stated on the record that they had no objection to any of the Special Verdict Forms. RP (July 31, 2013) at 85.

The parties submitted the key facts determining control of the company to the jury in Special Verdict Form A, but left implementation of an equitable remedy to the discretion of the trial court. RP (July 18, 2012) at 20-21; RP (July 31, 2013) at 69-82, 85. It was only in post-verdict motion practice, after the evidence was closed and after it became apparent to Petitioners that the key election upon which they based their claim for control had been found invalid by the jury, CP 223 (Special Interrogatories 4, 5 & 6 (August 2, 2012)), that Petitioners attempted to claim that the trial court had no right to exercise traditional discretion under CR 39(a)(1)(B) and (c) to decide facts pertaining to the nature and scope of the equitable remedy. CP 310 (Plaintiffs' Response and Objections to Defendants' Request for Injunctive Relief (August 20, 2012)). That was too late.

### b. <u>The Operating Agreement</u>

The parties to this lawsuit are also parties to the Green Cab Operating Agreement, which provides in material part that a defaulter shall:

be deemed to have offered for sale to the Company all of the Units and any other associated rights then held by the Defaulting Member for a purchase price determined by the Company's accountant to be the net book value of the Defaulting Member's Percentage Interest in the Company represented by the Units....

COA Opinion at 13 (quoting, Operating Agreement, Ex. 1 at p.13 (emphasis added)); see also, id., (quoting, Operating Agreement, Ex. 1 at p.5). This is the provision relied upon by the trial court to require buyout of Petitioners' interests in the company using the unit value stated by the Green Cab accountant to set net book value. COA Opinion at 7.

"A trial court has broad discretion to fashion an injunction that is appropriate to the facts, circumstances, and equities before it, and the reviewing court will give great weight to the trial court's exercise of discretion." Sunnyside Valley Irrigation v. Dickie, 111 Wn. App. 209, 219-20, 43 P.3d 1277 (Div. 3 2002); accord, Waremart, Inc. v. Progressive Campaigns, Inc., 139 Wn.2d 623, 628, 989 P.2d 524 (1999); Tradewell Stores, Inc. v. T.B. & M., Inc., 7 Wn. App. 424, 427-28, 500 P.2d 1290 (Div. 2 1972). "The trial court's decision exercising that

discretion will be upheld unless it is based upon untenable grounds, or is manifestly unreasonable, or is arbitrary." *King v. Riveland*, 125 Wn.2d 500, 515, 886 P.2d 160 (1994); *accord*, *e.g.*, *Waremart v. Progressive Campaigns*, *supra*, 139 Wn.2d at 628; *Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp.*, 108 Wn.2d 38, 63, 738 P.2d 665 (1987); *Washington Fed'n of State Employees v. State*, 99 Wn.2d 878, 887, 665 P.2d 1337 (1983).

The trial court properly followed the jury on the findings it made in Special Verdict Form A. CP 343-46. Based on the authorization of Petitioners' attorney that "the equitable claim of the permanent injunction" would be "tried to the Court as opposed to the jury," COA Opinion at 8 (quoting, RP (July 18, 2012) at 20-21), the trial court then applied the Operating Agreement signed by all parties to the lawsuit. That Operating Agreement pointed the trial court to the opinion of the Green Cab accountant. Furthermore, as stated by Division One, "[t]he record demonstrates conflicts between the two groups indicating they are unable or unwilling to work together." COA Opinion at 6; see also id. at 14-15; see, Brief of Respondents and Cross-Appellants, at 6-9 (hereinafter "Brief of Respondents"). This alone supports the necessity of a buy-out. The trial court was also aware that Petitioners had made a binding admission that they had withdrawn from Green Cab in violation of the Operating Agreement. COA Opinion at 15; RP (July 19, 2012) at

45; RP (July 31, 2012) at 109-10. Ordering a buy-out was well within the trial court's discretion.<sup>3</sup>

On the issue of valuation, not only did the trial court weigh the Operating Agreement and the opinion of the Green Cab accountant, but it also looked to the totality of the record before it. CP 447-48. The trial weighed the substantial evidence of business interruption, which was bound to reduce both the book value and the market value of the Green Cab licenses, and of the business as a whole. CP 447. Even if some taxicab licenses trade with a higher value, the question here was not market value, but net book value. CP 448. Even on the issue of market value, however, the evidence in this case showed that the licenses in question were of diminished value because they were not Seattle or Airport licenses, they were kept in the name of King County and nontransferable except with County permission, and because of the Green Cab litigation and record of hardships. RP (July 24, 2012) at 67-68/17-10. Thus, the trial court's decision to order a buy-out valued at the company

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioners attempt to escape the admission of withdrawal by arguing it is "meaningless" because the Operating Agreement prohibited withdrawal. *Pet.Rev.* at 18. Petitioners confuse the legal effects of facts with the facts themselves. They admitted both the **fact** that the Operating Agreement prohibited withdrawal, and the **fact** that they withdrew. RP (July 31, 2012) at 109-110. The legal consequence is a violation of the prohibition in the Operating Agreement against withdrawal. Nor did the jury find that Green Cab excluded Petitioners from the company. *Pet.Rev.* at 18-19. That assertion has no citation to the record, and there is no such "finding". The *binding admission* is that Petitioners withdrew from Green Cab. RP (July 31, 2012) at 109-110.

accountant's net book value opinion pursuant to the Operating Agreement was realistic, and not based upon untenable grounds, manifestly unreasonable, or arbitrary.

# 3. Review of the Equitable Relief is Not Warranted by RAP 13.4(b)

There is nothing in the Court of Appeals' unpublished disposition that requires review by this Court of the equitable relief. As summarized by Division One:

"In cases involving both legal and equitable issues . . . the trial court has broad discretion in allowing a jury to determine some, none or all of the factual issues presented." Rao v. Auburn Gen. Hosp., 19 Wn. App. 124, 129, 573 P.2d 834 (1978). Here the parties agreed to submit the question of the appropriate injunctive relief to the trial court for determination. The court can hardly be faulted for resolving both the factual and legal issues relevant to the appropriate injunctive relief given the parties' undisputed agreement. Determining the proper relief required the court to determine the value of the plaintiffs' membership interests.

COA Opinion at 16-17. Such a division of responsibilities between trial court and jury in equitable matters is also authorized by CR 39(a)(1)(B) and (c). This issue is tied to the particular concessions in this record, and to the terms of the Green Cab Operating Agreement, and therefore has no significance that "transcend[s] the particular application of the law in question." II WSBA, *Appellate Practice Deskbook* § 27.11 at 27-10 (3d ed. 2011) (hereinafter "Deskbook").

Plaintiffs' Group has totally failed to show "conflict with a decision" of this Court, or a split between Divisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Review under these subsections requires that Petitioners do "more than a merely assert that a conflict exists. Rather, Petitioners should thoughtfully trace the conflict and convince the court the decisions cannot be harmonized or distinguished." *Deskbook, supra,* at 27-11. Merely citing a case for an inapplicable rule of law is not sufficient. Petitioners' lax treatment of these "conflict" rules would prevent RAP 13.4(b) from serving its purpose of limiting review only to cases of the greatest significance to the general operation of Washington state's legal system. *Deskbook, supra* at 27-10.

Petitioners assert a "conflict with the Rules of Evidence," although that is not a recognized basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). *Pet.Rev.* at 11. Declarations are relied upon in motion practice hundreds of times every day across the state, but Petitioners make no attempt to articulate a limiting principle for the absolute ban they seem to believe is required by the cited hearsay rules. In fact, affidavits and declarations are specifically authorized by law in motion practice. RCW 9A.72.085; CR 7(b)(4); CR 56(c), (e); KCLR 7(b)(5)(B)(iv); GR 13. "On the hearing of an application for an injunction, each party may read from affidavits." RCW 7.40.060; *see*, 5B K. Tegland, Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and

Practice § 802.3 (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 2013). Consistent with the Rules of Evidence, experts may testify as to ultimate opinions, and may do so "without prior disclosure of the underlying facts or data . . .." ER 704, 705. Petitioners could have moved for a stay of the pending motions while they took the deposition of Green Cab's accountant, but they did not do so. There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Nor is there any basis to review this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Petitioners never raised a constitutional objection to the admission of the Green Cab accountant's testimony below, CP 309-10, CP 805-10, and their reconsideration motion asked only that the trial court consider evidence of fair market value, instead of the net book value specified in the Operating Agreement. CP 808-09, 811-12; COA Op. at 11. Nor did Petitioners raise a constitutional issue in their briefing before the Court of Appeals. *Brief of Appellants* at 2-3; *Reply Brief of Appellants* at 15-18. Now for the first time they mention "constitutional issues" and "due process" in passing, without any citation to authorities or reasoned argument, *Pet.Rev.* at 11, 13, and therefore it cannot be said that "a *significant* question of law under the Constitution . . . is involved" in this case. RAP 13.4(b)(3) (emphasis added).

The constitutional issue, if raised, would be predicated on lack of notice and opportunity to address the valuation by the accountant under

the Operating Agreement. Contrary to the statements by Petitioners that they were denied an opportunity to address these issues, they have known from the beginning that the Operating Agreement governs the remedies for default, and they have known since Defendant Groups' Cross-Claims were filed on April 4, 2011, that Green Cab was relying on the very provision of the Operating Agreement that provides for buy-out based on the book value assigned by the Green Cab accountant. CP 929 ¶4B.7. Furthermore, Petitioners were served with Requests for Admission seeking an admission of their default under the very provision of the Operating Agreement referencing buy-out at book value as set by the Green Cab accountant, which they failed to answer. 7/19 RP (July 19, 2012) at 45/6-11; RP (July 23, 2012) at 56/13-21. Petitioners have no one to blame but themselves for not engaging in discovery on this issue so that they were prepared to meet it.

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